IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARSON & LARSON, P.A., HERBERT W. LARSON, and H. WILLIAM LARSON, JR.,	
Petitioners,	
-VS-	Sup. Ct. Case No.: SC08-428 DCA Case No.: 2D07-1872
TSE INDUSTRIES, INC.,	
Respondent.	_/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BRANDON S. VESELY, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 022070 MICHAEL J. KEANE, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 257516 Keane, Reese, Vesely & Gerdes, P.A. 770 Second Avenue South St. Petersburg, FL 33701 Tel: (727) 823-5000

Fax: (727) 894-1023 **Attorneys for Petitioners**

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For purposes of the "Petitioners' Initial Brief on the Merits," the following symbols will be utilized: "A" shall refer to the Appendix accompanying the Petitioners' Initial Brief on the Merits. "R" shall refer to the Record on Appeal. Reference shall be made to the record volume and appropriate page number, for example: (R. Vol. 1, P. 51-56).

The Petitioners, LARSON & LARSON, P.A., HERBERT W. LARSON, and H. WILLIAM LARSON, JR., will be referred to collectively as "the Larson Defendants" or as "Petitioners." The Respondent, TSE INDUSTRIES, INC., will be referred to as "TSE," or as "Respondent."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This Petition seeks review of the Second District Court of Appeal's decision reversing a Final Summary Judgment entered in favor of the Larson Defendants in a legal malpractice action brought by the Respondent, TSE. (A. 1-12) In so doing, the Larson Defendants urge the Second District has created disarray in the State regarding the statute of limitations in legal malpractice cases.

TSE sued its former counsel, the Larson Defendants, for legal malpractice associated with an unsuccessful, federal, patent infringement claim that TSE brought against one of its competitors. (R. Vol. 1, P. 1-43) The Larson Defendants answered the malpractice complaint and raised the statute of limitations as a defense (R. Vol. 1, P. 73-80, 81-85) Thereafter, the Larsons successfully moved for summary judgment because the statute of limitations barred the claim against them. (R. Vol. 5, P. 713-716) TSE appealed. (R. Vol. 5, P. 717-722)

The Second District Court of Appeal, however, reversed the summary judgment, which is the decision before this Court on discretionary review. (A. 1-12)

Hence, this review concerns the proper application of the statute of limitations to legal malpractice claims -- a pure question of law based on the following undisputed timeline of events:

♦ In 1998, the Larson Defendants, as counsel for TSE, filed a federal patent infringement suit against Franklynn Industries, Inc. ("Franklynn") in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida (the "Patent Infringement Action"). The suit sought to enforce TSE's U.S. Patent Number

¹ The decision is currently reported as *TSE Industries, Inc. v. Larson & Larson, P.A.*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D404 (Fla. 2d DCA Feb. 1, 2008).

- 5,219,925 (the "TSE Patent") against one or more of Franklynn's products. (A. 3) (R. Vol. 1, P.5)
- ♦ On October 1, 2001, the Patent Infringement Action proceeded to a jury trial.

 (R. Vol. 4, P.645)
- ♦ On October 10, 2001, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Franklynn determining that the TSE Patent was invalid. (R. Vol. 4, P. 646)
- ♦ On October 24, 2001, the clerk entered the final judgment in the Patent Infringement Action and awarded costs to Franklynn. (A. 3) (R. Vol. 5, P. 651)
- ♦ Thereafter, TSE filed timely post-judgment motions for judgment as a matter of law and for new trial. (A. 4)
- ♦ Franklynn, in turn, filed a post-judgment motion for declaration of an exceptional case and for the recovery of attorneys' fees incurred in the Patent Infringement Action pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §285. (A. 3-4)
- On August 16, 2002, the federal court entered an Order disposing of TSE's post-judgment motions. (A. 4) (R. Vol. 5, P. 654-661) This Order rendered the final judgment ripe for appeal, but TSE did not seek appellate review of the final judgment. (A. 4)

- ◆ Also on August 16, 2002, the federal court granted Franklynn's motion for declaration of an exceptional case and for the recovery of attorneys' fees. (A. 4) (R. Vol. 5, P. 663-670)
- ♦ On **September 16, 2002**, the final judgment in the Patent Infringement Action became **final** because the time period for appeal expired. (A. 4)
- ♦ Later, TSE and Franklynn resolved the collateral attorney's fees issue and settled on an amount that TSE would pay Franklynn.
- ♦ On October 10, 2002, TSE and Franklynn filed a joint stipulation dismissing all claims in the Patent Infringement Action. (A. 4) (R. Vol. 5, P. 672) H. William Larson signed the stipulation on behalf of TSE. (R. Vol. 5, P. 672)
- ♦ On October 5, 2004, more than two years after the underlying final judgment became final, but less than two years after the Larsons filed the stipulation to dismiss the patent infringement action, TSE filed its legal malpractice suit against the Larson Defendants in the Sixth Judicial Circuit Court in and for Pinellas County, Florida. (A. 5) (R. Vol. 1, P. 1-43)

END OF TIMELINE

TSE's malpractice complaint sought two categories of damages: (1) the attorney's fees it paid the Larson Defendants to prosecute the unsuccessful Patent Infringement Action; and (2) the attorney's fees it was subsequently required to pay

the opposing party, Franklynn, because the Patent Infringement Action was declared an "exceptional case" under 35 U.S.C. §285. (R. Vol. 1, P. 9 at ¶ 32).

The Larson Defendants moved for summary judgment based on the applicable statute of limitations for professional malpractice, section 95.11(4)(a), Florida Statutes. (R. Vol. 1, P. 73-80, 81-85) The trial court, relying on *Silvestrone v. Edell*, 721 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1998), granted the motion because TSE's claim was not filed within two years of the date upon which the judgment in the Patent Infringement Action became **final**. (A. 2) (R. Vol. 5, P. 713-716)

The Second District disagreed and reversed, holding that the statute of limitations for the litigation-related legal malpractice did not begin to run until the *post-judgment* motion for attorney's fees was settled and the litigation was "fully resolved." (A. 10-11) The Second District made this ruling despite acknowledging that: (1) the alleged malpractice occurred, if at all, during the main case (A. 5); (2) the main case went to final judgment and the appeals period expired more than two years prior to the malpractice suit being filed (A. 4); and (3) TSE was indisputably on notice of the alleged malpractice, fully aware of a portion of its damages (i.e. the money it paid to the Larson Defendants) at the time the final judgment in the main case became final (A. 5) and well aware that additional damages were forthcoming.

The Second District <u>certified</u> conflict with the Fourth District's decision in *Integrated Broadcast Services, Inc. v. Mitchel*, 931 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). (A. 12) This Petition ensued.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District's decision runs afoul of a well established rule of law that a cause of action accrues, and the statute of limitations begins to run, when all of the elements of the cause of action have occurred and "it is not material that all the damages resulting from the act shall have been sustained at that time and the running of the statute is not postponed by the fact that the actual or substantial damages do not occur until a later date." *City of Miami v. Brooks*, 70 So. 2d 306, 308 (Fla. 1954).

This longstanding rule was applied by this Court in its opinion in *Silvestrone v*. *Edell*, 721 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1998), where the Court announced a "bright line rule" that "in those cases that proceed to final judgment, the two-year statute of limitations for litigation-related malpractice under section 95.11(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1997), begins to run when final judgment becomes final." *Silvestrone*, 721 So. 2d at 1175-76. The Court determined that until the final judgment becomes final, the plaintiff's damages are merely speculative. *See id*.

Applying Silvestrone verbatim to the facts of the instant case would have resulted in an affirmance below, because the judgment in the underlying patent infringement case became final, and damages were clearly incurred, more than two years before the legal malpractice claim was filed by TSE. TSE sought as damages all of the attorney's fees it paid the Larson Defendants to prosecute the failed patent infringement action. (R. Vol. 1, P. 9 at ¶ 32). Those damages were certain when the final judgment became final on September 16, 2002, after TSE's appellate rights expired. Moreover, TSE was on notice of those damages when the final judgment was entered. That TSE continued to negotiate the amount and payment of Franklynn's attorney's fees and costs did not change the finality of the final judgment. The Second District, however, set the start date of the statute of limitations as the date Franklynn's attorney's fees were resolved by settlement. Thus, the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with *Silvestrone* and *Brooks* and must be quashed.

The Second District below also *certified* conflict with the Fourth District's decision in *Integrated Broadcast Services, Inc. v. Mitchel*, 931 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). (A. 12) In both the instant case and *Mitchel*, the plaintiffs filed litigation-related legal malpractice actions against the defendants more than two years after the underlying judgments became final, but less than two years after the subsequent

awards of sanctions against the plaintiffs for litigation related misconduct. *See* § 95.11(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (2000).

The Fourth District in *Mitchel* determined that the subsequent sanctions award should be treated like a separate judgment subject to its own statute of limitations period even though the sanctions resulted from the malpractice in the underlying case. The Second District, reviewing *Mitchel*, dubbed this the "bifurcated statute of limitations" approach and recognized that the *Mitchel* court was essentially creating two separate limitations periods for the same alleged misconduct, simply because there were two distinct judgments. (A. 11)

The Second District disagreed with this approach and determined that there can be only one statute of limitations period, but that it should begin to run when the underlying litigation is fully resolved, which includes the disposal of all post-judgment motions for attorney's fees. (A. 10-12) In contrast to *Mitchel*, the Second District's approach does not focus on when the damages are incurred, only when the case is concluded. (A. 10)

While *Mitchel* conflicts with the Second District's decision below, it too is flawed because it fails to recognize the general principle that the statute of limitations attaches when the cause of action accrues. As in the instant case, the plaintiff in *Mitchel* could have sued its former counsel at the conclusion of the underlying case,

when the final judgment became final, because it knew or should have known at that time that it was damaged by its counsel's malpractice. The *Mitchel* court's solution -- to recognize multiple statute of limitation periods for the same professional malpractice -- may be innovative, but it plainly contradicts fifty-plus years of Florida jurisprudence. Accordingly, this Court should disapprove of the Fourth District's decision in *Mitchel*.

Finally, TSE's <u>sole</u> argument below in its appeal to the Second District was that the trial court erred in failing to recognize the "continuing representation doctrine" as a toll to the statute of limitations on the litigation-related legal malpractice. However, this Court long ago rejected that doctrine under a different name — the "continuous treatment doctrine." *See Kelley v. School Board of Seminole County*, 435 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 1983). And there is no other support or justification for the application of the doctrine in Florida law. Accordingly, it cannot serve as a basis for approving the Second District's decision below.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Summary judgment is proper if there is no genuine issue of material fact and if the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.*, 760 So. 2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000). Where the

question is solely a legal one, the standard of review of an order granting summary judgment is *de novo*. *See id*.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS MISCONSTRUED THIS COURT'S OPINION IN SILVESTRONE v. EDELL, 721 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1998), AND ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR LEGAL MALPRACTICE DOES NOT BEGIN TO RUN UNTIL THE RESOLUTION OF POST-JUDGMENT COLLATERAL MATTERS.

This case turns on a relatively simple question, but one having far reaching implications: *Does the statute of limitation for litigation-related legal malpractice begin to run when the final judgment becomes final?* This Court has already answered that question affirmatively, but the decision from the Second District below puts the question squarely back before this Court. The Second District's decision below held that professional malpractice is a "continuing tort" and the two-year statute of limitation does not begin to run until every action is completed by the attorney involved, including post-judgment, collateral matters.

Statutes of limitation are not simply technicalities; they are fundamental to a well ordered judicial system. *See Board of Regents of University of State of N.Y. v. Tomanio*, 446 U.S. 478, 487, 100 S.Ct. 1790, 1796 (1980). In Florida, once an action becomes time barred by the applicable statute of limitations, "the defendant possesses

a constitutionally protected property interest to be free from that claim." *Wood v. Eli Lilly & Co.*, 701 So.2d 344, 346 (Fla. 1997).

The law of Florida has been settled for many decades -- the statute of limitations on any claim begins to run when the cause of action accrues. In *City of Miami v. Brooks*, 70 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1954), this Court defined the rule to mean that the statute of limitations begins to run when the last element necessary for the cause of action occurs. The *Brooks* Court wrote:

The general rule, of course, is that where an injury, although slight, is sustained in consequence of the wrongful act of another, and the law affords a remedy therefor, the statute of limitations attaches at once. It is not material that all the damages resulting from the act shall have been sustained at that time and the running of the statute is not postponed by the fact that the actual or substantial damages do not occur until a later date.

70 So. 2d at 308 (emphasis supplied). Counsel for TSE acknowledged this authority before the trial court and stipulated to its viability. During arguments at the summary judgment hearing, the following colloquy took place:

MR. KEANE [Counsel for the Larson Defendants]:

. .

Because the court decided to make it a bright line, the bright line that is drawn is: When is the judgment rendered.

Now, counsel will undoubtedly argue that, "Well, we didn't know the full extent of our damages because the attorney's fees were not fixed." But that is of no moment

in the statute of limitations law, and that has been true forever.

I have the case of City of Miami [v. Brooks] – and there are lots of cases to that effect.

MR. ELEFF [Counsel for TSE]: Mr. Keane, I can help you on that part of your argument. I am not going to contend to the contrary.

MR. KEANE: Pardon me? Which part?

MR. ELEFF: I'm not going to contend that the statute didn't run until we knew all the damages.

MR. KEANE: Okay. Good.

(R. Vol. 4, P. 681-682)

The rule of accrual, as set forth in *Brooks*, was subsequently codified in section 95.031, Florida Statutes, which reads, in relevant part:

[T]he time within which an action shall be begun under any statute of limitations runs from the time the cause of action accrues.

(1) A cause of action accrues when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs . . .

The rule of accrual was later echoed in this Court's opinion in *Silvestrone v*. *Edell*, 721 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1998), which dealt with litigation-related legal malpractice. The *Silvestrone* Court adopted a "bright-line" rule that a litigation-related malpractice claim <u>accrues</u> for statute of limitations purposes "when the final judgment becomes final." *Silvestrone*, 721 So. 2d at 1175-76. A "final judgment becomes final" when all matters affecting rendition and all appeals are over and there is nothing the parties can do to change the outcome of the underlying matter. *See id*.

The Court reasoned that until that point in time the damages are merely speculative. *See id.*

The United States Supreme Court has spoken on the subject. In the recent opinion of *Wallace v. Kato*, 127 S.Ct. 1091 (2007), the Court wrote:

"Under the traditional rule of accrual . . . the tort cause of action accrues, and the statute of limitations commences to run, when the wrongful act or omission results in damages. The cause of action accrues even though the full extent of the injury is not then known or predictable." 1 C. Corman, Limitation of Actions § 7.4.1, pp. 526-527 (1991) (footnotes omitted); see also 54 C.J.S., Limitations of Actions § 112, p. 150 (2005). Were it otherwise, the statute would begin to run only after a plaintiff became satisfied that he had been harmed enough, placing the supposed statute of repose in the sole hands of the party seeking relief.

Wallace, 127 S.Ct. at 1097 (emphasis supplied).

In contrast to *Brooks*, *Wallace*, and most importantly *Silvestrone* because it addresses litigation-related legal malpractice, the Second District below determined that the statute of limitations on TSE's claim for litigation-related legal malpractice did <u>not</u> begin to run when the final judgment in the patent infringement case became <u>final</u> on September 16, 2002. (A. 4) This the Court decided even though no further judicial review of the conduct that constituted the claimed malpractice was availing, and though the Larsons' fees component of damages was certain and no longer reviewable.

Judge Stringer instead chose October 10, 2002, as the start date for the statute of limitations because, in his words: "[T]he client does not incur damages until the conclusion of the related judicial proceedings when the amount of attorneys' fees has been finally established. Until the case is fully resolved, there is a chance that the appeals process could result in a reversal of the original decision that established an injury." (A. 10) Judge Stringer's understanding of the timeline and the record is simply wrong.

TSE knew on September 16, 2002, that its case against Franklynn was completely over and that it had lost; there were no further appellate rights. TSE also knew on September 16, 2002, that it had paid the Larson Defendants for their alleged malpractice in pursuing the claim against Franklynn. TSE knew that nothing transpiring after September 16, 2002, would change that portion of its damages -- i.e. the amount of money it had paid the Larson Defendants. The only matter left open for consideration at that point in time was Franklynn's claim for attorney's fees, which was a separate component of TSE's overall damages and was a collateral matter to the main case.²

² It is well settled that attorney's fees are a collateral matter over which a court retains jurisdiction even after being divested of jurisdiction on the merits of the underlying case. An outstanding fee issue does not bar recognition of a merits judgment as final and appealable. *See Budinich v. Becton Dickinson & Company*, 486 U.S. 196, 199-200, 108 S.Ct. 1717 (1988); *McGurn v. Scott*, 596 So. 2d 1042, 1044 (Fla.

Thus, on September 16, 2002, TSE's cause of action for litigation-related legal malpractice against the Larson Defendants accrued. The fact that Franklynn's claim for its attorney's fees against TSE was not resolved at that time did not toll the running of the statute of limitations. The cause of action accrued even though the full extent of the damages was not then known or predictable. *See Wallace*, 127 S.Ct. at 1097; *Brooks*, 70 So. 2d at 308

Judge Altenbernd's concurring opinion confirms that the Court was well aware that TSE's cause of action for malpractice accrued prior to October 2002. He writes:

In this case, assuming there was an act of malpractice, it would seem that a claim of professional malpractice accrued prior to October 2002 because a final judgment that was subject to execution against the client existed prior to that time. It would appear that the plaintiff in this case had discovered the act of alleged malpractice more than two years prior to the filing of this lawsuit.

. . .

We are essentially holding that a claim of litigation-based malpractice is a continuing tort that ceases, and thereby accrues, with the final stipulation of dismissal in the lawsuit in which the malpractice occurs. Clearly both the accrual of the claim, based on the first dollar of damage, and the discovery of the claim could occur prior to that time.

(A. 13-14)(citations omitted; emphasis supplied).

1989)("[A]n award of attorneys' fees or costs is ancillary to, and does not interfere with, the subject matter of the appeal and, thus, is incidental to the main adjudication.")

Judge Altenbernd applies a "continuing tort" theory to justify looking past the original accrual date and to conclude that the statute of limitations did not begin to run until all the damages were determined and the litigation was fully resolved. However, litigation-related legal malpractice is not a "continuing tort" that would extend beyond the final judgment. The Second District recently defined what a continuing tort is, and by their own definition the facts below do not qualify:

A continuing tort is established by continual tortious acts, not by continual harmful effects from an original, completed act. When a defendant's damage-causing act is completed, the existence of continuing damages to a plaintiff, even progressively worsening damages, does not present successive causes of action accruing because of a continuing tort.

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