IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-428

LARSON & LARSON, P.A., HERBERT W. LARSON, and H. WILLIAM LARSON, JR., Petitioners,

VS.

TSE INDUSTRIES, INC., Respondent.

On Discretionary Review From the Second District Court of Appeal

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Marie Tomassi, Esq. Florida Bar No. 772062 Stanley H. Eleff, Esq. Florida Bar No. 269018 Edward B. Carlstedt, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0136972 TRENAM, KEMKER, SCHARF, BARKIN, FRYE, O'NEILL & MULLIS, P.A. 200 Central Avenue, Suite 1600 St. Petersburg, FL 33701 Telephone (727) 820-3952 Facsimile (727) 820-0835 mtomassi@trenam.com Attorneys for Respondent TSE Industries, Inc.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District correctly determined that the statute of limitations for TSE's litigation-based malpractice claim against Larson & Larson did not begin to run until the filing of the stipulation for dismissal, which was the end of the underlying litigation. This decision is consistent with, and honors the principals of, existing Florida law, including this Court's decision in <u>Silvestrone</u>. As the Second

District noted, the <u>Silvestrone</u> search for finality need not be so limited as to end with entry of a final judgment. Instead, under facts such as those above, the Court looks for the end of the underlying litigation to start the limitations period.

The Second District's opinion also does not truly conflict with <u>Integrated Broadcast Services</u> because the cases are factually distinct. If there is a conceptual conflict, the Second District's analysis is superior because it is both consistent with <u>Silvestrone</u> and in concert with this Court's public policy concerns expressed in analogous contexts.

Finally, the Second District's result can be affirmed by this Court's express recognition and adoption of the continuing representation doctrine. Precluding the start of the limitations period while errant counsel continues to represent the client protects the client, permits counsel an opportunity to correct or remedy any error and avoids forcing a client to take diametrically opposed positions. Florida courts previously have recognized this doctrine and its rationale is sound.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN THIS CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH <u>SILVESTRONE v.</u> <u>EDELL</u>, 721 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 1998).

The Second District Court of Appeal decision in the instant case does not conflict with <u>Silvestrone</u>, but instead expressly recognizes that the issue of the statute of limitations for litigation-related legal malpractice claims is controlled by <u>Silvestrone</u>. The Court concluded, however, that the instant case presented a factual situation not contemplated by <u>Silvestrone</u> and, in applying <u>Silvestrone</u>'s analysis and holding, declined Larson & Larson's efforts to impose a strict, narrow reading of <u>Silvestrone</u> on these facts. The Second District decision is in harmony with both the rationale in <u>Silvestrone</u> and the public policy concerns expressed by this Court in other cases and, because of the factual dissimilarity between the instant case and that presented <u>Silvestrone</u>, is not in conflict with it.¹

As the Second District noted below, <u>Silvestrone</u> focused on whether the entry of an adverse jury verdict or the entry of a final judgment triggered the statute of limitations for a litigation-based legal malpractice claim. The Court did not consider or address situations in which an attorney continues to represent a

¹ TSE respectfully submits that this Court may wish to reconsider its decision to exercise discretionary jurisdiction in this matter. As set forth above, the instant case does not conflict with existing Florida Supreme Court precedent. Moreover, as explained in Section II herein, there is no intra-district conflict to support jurisdiction.

Silvestrone focused on whether the statute of limitations for malpractice could begin to run prior to a judgment becoming final. The Court logically concluded that it could not, because damages would be speculative until the underlying judgment became final. Thus, the Court focused on when the underlying litigation was concluded.

In the instant case, the underlying litigation was not concluded by the entry of the final judgment, even when it became final for purposes of appeal, but rather was concluded when the remaining question of attorneys' fees imposed as a sanction was resolved. Thus, the Second District correctly concluded that, consistent with the <u>Silvestrone</u> analysis, the litigation was not concluded until the stipulation for dismissal was filed.

The Second District rejected a narrow reading of <u>Silvestrone</u> encouraged by Larson & Larson because of policy concerns expressed by this Court in both the <u>Peat, Marwick</u> and the <u>Blumberg</u> cases. In <u>Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. v. Lane,</u> 565 So. 2d 1323 (Fla. 1990), this Court expressed a concern about requiring a party to take conflicting positions if the statute of limitations against an accountant for malpractice began to run prior to the complete determination of a tax challenge. In <u>Blumberg v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.,</u> 790 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 2001), this Court considered the potential conflicts of interest that would arise in requiring a statute

of limitations to begin running prior to the final resolution of matters that clearly would require the replacement of counsel and eliminate the chance for errant counsel to fix his or her mistake.

Larson & Larson's continued insistence that a cause of action for litigationbased legal malpractice accrues when any damage occurs ignores the fundamental difference between litigation-based legal malpractice claims and other potential causes of action. TSE does not quarrel with the general proposition that a statute of limitation begins to run when a cause of action accrues, and that all damages need not be sustained for a cause of action to accrue generally. See, e.g., City of Miami v. Brooks, 70 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1954). As this Court held in Silvestrone, however, damages from litigation-based legal malpractice are speculative until the final judgment becomes final and the statute of limitations should not begin to run until the underlying matter is fully concluded. Applying that logic to the instant case, the underlying litigation was not fully concluded until the attorneys' fee issue was resolved by the stipulation for dismissal. That TSE may have incurred some damage prior to that time does not change the analysis in Silvestrone, a case advanced by Larson & Larson as controlling.

II. THE INSTANT OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH INTEGRATED BROADCAST SERVICES, INC. v. MITCHEL, 931 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006).

TSE respectfully submits that, notwithstanding the Second District Court of Appeal certification of conflict, the instant decision from the Second District does not conflict with Integrated Broadcast Services, Inc. v. Mitchel, 931 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) because the facts underlying these two cases appear to be distinct. In the event there is a conflict, however, TSE respectfully submits that the Second District analysis is logically more sound and consistent with this Court's policy concerns expressed in other decisions and should be adopted, or that the continuing representation doctrine discussed below should be clearly and expressly recognized and applied herein.

In <u>Integrated Broadcast Services</u>, the Fourth District Court Of Appeal reversed summary judgment in favor of defendants based on the statute of limitations in a legal malpractice case, essentially finding that while the statute ran for any claim arising from the adverse final judgment suffered by the client in the underlying federal court litigation, it had not run for any claim arising from the sanctions subsequently imposed by a separate order that became final much later. The Court found that the client should have been permitted to pursue its claim for damages arising from the sanctions order. <u>Id.</u> at 1074.

The allegedly errant counsel in <u>Integrated Broadcast Services</u> withdrew from representing the client some time after entry of the final judgment on the merits and prior to the trial court's order awarding sanctions. <u>Id.</u> Although the opinion only includes limited facts and not many dates, the final judgment on the merits was appealed, and according to the opinion, counsel withdrew during the pendency of the appeal. <u>Id.</u> The order awarding sanctions was subsequently entered, and it too was appealed, although it later was resolved by settlement. <u>Id.</u> From the limited history of the underlying litigation provided, it seems likely that this suit for legal malpractice was filed more than two years after counsel's withdrawal. The Fourth District's opinion contains no reference to the continuing representation doctrine.

Integrated Broadcast Services differs from the instant case because there, the allegedly errant counsel withdrew from the representation prior to the underlying judgment becoming final and prior to the resolution of the sanctions order. These critical factual distinctions prevent the holding in Integrated Broadcast Services from being in conflict with the holding in the instant case below, where Larson & Larson continued to represent TSE through the time the underlying final judgment became final and through the resolution of the sanctions issue. Accordingly, TSE submits that there likely is no conflict among and between these district court of appeal opinions. See, e.g., Tetzlaff v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Com'n.,

926 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 2006) (no express and direct conflict where cases are factually distinct).

To the extent the cases can be perceived as being in conflict, TSE submits that the Second District analysis is more sound because it avoids a split or bifurcated statute of limitations analysis and is more consistent with the concern expressed in <u>Silvestrone</u> for a bright line rule establishing the start of the statute of limitations for a litigation-based legal malpractice claim to be at the completion of the underlying proceedings. Moreover, as expressed more fully below, the continuing representation doctrine that would not have been applicable in <u>Integrated Broadcast Services</u> should apply here and permit a different result between the cases.²

III. THE CONTINUING REPRESENTATION DOCTRINE SHOULD BE APPLIED IN THE INSTANT CASE AND PERMITS THE AFFIRMANCE OF THE SECOND DISTRICT OPINION AT ISSUE ON THIS ALTERNATE BASIS.

Florida courts long have recognized the continuing representation doctrine, pursuant to which the statute of limitations for a professional negligence claim is tolled as long as the professional continues to represent the client. See, e.g., Hampton v. Payne, 600 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)(Plaintiff "could no longer avail herself of the continuous representation rule to toll the two year statute of

_

Interestingly, Larson & Larson advocate for the rejection of the <u>Integrated</u> Broadcast Services decision, recognizing it as "flawed." (Initial Brief, p. 18).

limitations" after she replaced the allegedly errant attorney). The Second District expressly recognized this doctrine, albeit in dicta, in Abbott v. Friedsam, 682 So. 2d 597, 599 fn.1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), noting that "in Florida the statute of limitations for legal malpractice generally does not begin to run while the attorney continues to represent the client...". Plainly if this doctrine is alive and well in Florida, it applies to the instant case and precludes the start of the statute of limitations until no earlier than the filing of the stipulation for dismissal, until which time Larson & Larson unequivocally continued to represent TSE.

Larson & Larson contended below and contend herein that the continuing representation doctrine never has been expressly adopted by any Florida court and therefore cannot be applied. TSE disagrees. Neither the Second nor Third District Court of Appeal opinions referenced above express any doubt as to the existence of the continuing representation doctrine in Florida. Even if that doctrine has not been expressly adopted, however, TSE respectfully submits that this Court should expressly recognize and adopt it herein because the doctrine is consistent with widely noted concerns of this Court on related issues and with the long standing Florida law discussed herein.

_

TSE respectfully submits that it was entitled to rely on the continuing representation doctrine for determining the date by which it needed to file its complaint against Larson & Larson, given the Second District's clear, unequivocal statement of that doctrine as Florida law and where TSE's cause of action was within that district.

In a concurring opinion in a case regarding transaction-based legal malpractice claims, Justice Pariente addressed the advisability of the continuing representation doctrine, noting that she would not be adverse to adopting that doctrine for the resolution of transaction-based claims. Perez-Abreu, Zamora & De La Fe, P.A. v. Taracido, 790 So. 2d 1051, 1056 (Fla. 2001). Justice Pariente noted that the continuing representation doctrine as applied in Kentucky and known as the "continuous representation rule" rests on the premise that "by virtue of the attorney-client relationship, there can be no effective discovery of the negligence so long as the relationship prevails." <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>Alagia</u>, <u>Day</u>, <u>Trautwein</u> & Smith v. Broadbent, 882 S.W.2d 121, 125 (Ky. 1994). Justice Pariente approved the "practical advantages" noted by Kentucky, including allowing the allegedly negligent attorney the opportunity to "correct or mitigate the harm." Id. Justice Pariente further noted that such a rule avoids requiring clients to "maintain inconsistent positions" pursuant to which a client would have to argue both that the court had erred in the first lawsuit while simultaneously arguing that the client's own attorney in that same lawsuit had erred.

Interestingly, a case out of Indiana provides one of the most comprehensive explanations of the sound policy underlying the continuing representation doctrine. In <u>Biomet, Inc. v. Barnes & Thornburg</u>, 791 N.E.2d 760 (Ind. Ct. App. 2003), coincidentally a case regarding a legal malpractice claim arising out of patent

litigation, the court addressed, explained and approved the continuing representation doctrine, resolving an issue of first impression in Indiana. The court determined that Indiana "should adopt the continuous representation doctrine to delay the commencement of the statute of limitations until the end of an attorney's representation of a client in the same matter in which the alleged malpractice occurred." <u>Id.</u> at 765. The court relied in large measure on the rationale for the rule set forth in a treatise on attorney malpractice, equally instructive here:

The summary purpose of the continuous representation rule is to avoid disrupting the attorney-client relationship unnecessarily. Adoption of the rule was a direct reaction to the illogical requirement of the occurrence rule, which compels clients to sue their attorneys though the relationship continues, and there has not been and may never be any injury. The continuous representation rule is consistent with the purpose of the statute of limitations, which is to prevent stale claims and enable the defendant to preserve evidence. When the attorney continues to represent the client in the subject matter in which the error has occurred, all such objectives are achieved and preserved. The attorney-client relationship is maintained and speculative malpractice litigation is avoided.

The continuous representation rule is available and appropriate in those jurisdictions adopting the damage and discovery rules. The policy reasons are as compelling for allowing an attorney to continue his efforts to remedy a bad result, even if some damages have occurred and even if the client is fully aware of the attorney's error. The doctrine is fair to all parties concerned. The attorney has the opportunity to remedy, avoid or establish that there was no error or attempt to mitigate the damages. The client is not forced to terminate this relationship, though the option exists. The

result is consistent with all expressed policy bases for the statute of limitations.

RONALD E. MALLEN & JEFFREY M. SMITH, 3 LEGAL MALPRACTICE § 22.13, 430-31 (5th ed. 2000) (footnotes omitted). <u>Id.</u> at 765-66.

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